
 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Pennines Township Committee 

Date: Wednesday, 8th September, 2021 
Time: 6.00 pm. 

 
Venue: Hollingworth B&C , First Floor, Training & 

Conference Suite, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 
 
1   Apologies  

 

 To receive any apologies for absence.  
 
2   Declarations of Interest  

 

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

 
3   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press  

 

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

 

 
4   Urgent Items of Business  

 

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 
5   Minutes  3 - 6 

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Pennines Township 
Committee held on 20 July 2021. 
 

 

 
6   Open Forum  

 

Public Document Pack



 Half an hour has been set aside for members of the public to raise any issues 
relevant to the business of the Committee and the Township.  

 

 
7   Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document  7 - 48 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Communications / Director of Economy. 

 

 

Pennines Township Committee Members 
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Ashley Dearnley 
Councillor Janet Emsley Councillor John Hartley 
Councillor Aftab Hussain Councillor Andy Kelly 
Councillor Rina Paolucci Councillor Amna Mir 
Councillor John Blundell Councillor David Bamford 
Councillor John Taylor Councillor Tom Besford 
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Peter Thompson 
01706 924715 
peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk



PENNINES TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Tuesday, 20 July 2021 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Mir (Chair); Councillors Davidson, Dearnley, Emsley, 
Hartley, Kelly, Paolucci, Blundell, Taylor and Besford 
 
OFFICERS: Chris Woods, Stanley Mitchell, Tracey Knight, (Neighbourhoods 
Directorate), Michael Garraway (Resources Directorate) 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Hussain and Councillor Bamford 
 

1 APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR 
RESOLVED 
That Councillor Besford be appointed as Vice Chair of the Pennines Township 
Committee for 2021/22. 
 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Councillors Blundell and Davidson declared personal interests in 
considerations of Wardle Cricket Club as members of the club.  
 
Councillors Dearnley and Emsley declared pecuniary interests in applications 
from Wardle Anderson Brass Band in so far as being in positions of influence 
within the organisation. 
 

3 MINUTES 
In relation to minute 52 from the meeting of the Pennines Township 
Committee held on 11 November 2020 it was noted that matters relating to 
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing had been picked up through other channels 
with no further update required at this time. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Pennines Township Committee held on 
11 November 2020 be approved as a correct record. 
 

4 OPEN FORUM 
There were no items for the open forum. 
 

5 PENNINES TOWNSHIP DELEGATION ARRANGEMENTS AND 
APPOINTMENTS 2021/2022 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Corporate / Director of Resources which asked the Township Committee to 
confirm its delegated decision making arrangements for the 2021/22 Municipal 
Year and to appoint Members to agreed roles including the Chairs, Vice 
Chairs and substitute members; and the appointment to other Township 
Bodies and outside bodies. 
 
 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



Alternatives considered 
The Township Committee could choose not to appoint to sub-committees and 
undertake all delegated functions themselves, but that this may have a 
detrimental impact on the ability to progress Township priorities or deal with 
urgent items of business. 
  
RESOLVED 
1. That the Sub-Committee structure of the Pennines Township Committee 

be confirmed comprising of the Pennines Delegated and Funding Sub-
Committee, established in accordance with the Terms of Reference for the 
Sub-Committee as set out in Appendix 1 of the report be approved; 

2. That all Members of the Pennines Township Committee be appointed to 
the Pennines Township Delegated and Funding Sub-Committee and with 
the Chair being Councillor Mir and the Vice Chair Councillor Besford; 

3. That the Regeneration and Facilities Service Group and Highways and 
Environmental Management Service Group be retained and all Members 
of the Township Committee be appointed to each; with Councillor Emsley 
appointed as the Chair of each group. 

4. Councillors Bamford, Davidson, Kelly and Besford be appointed to the 
Ellenroad Trust Limited; 

5. That Councillor Hartley be appointed to the Moorend Trust Management 
Committee; 

6. That Councillors Bamford, Besford, Blundell, Dearnley, Emsley, Hartley, 
Kelly, Paolucci, be appointed to the Pennines Township Planning Panel; 
with Councillor Emsley appointed as Chair. 

7. That Councillor Dearnley be appointed as the Pennines Township Older 
Person’s Champion; 

8. That Councillor Davidson be appointed at the Pennines Township 
Highways Champion; 

9. That Councillors Davidson, Emsley and Taylor be appointed to the Road 
Safety Group 

 
Reasons for the decision 
The recommendations were presented as the Council has established and 
appointed Township Committees to undertake certain executive and 
nonexecutive powers, as set out in the Responsibility for Council Functions in 
Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution. In addition the Township’s Sub-
Committee exercises either delegated powers or acts on any matter detailed 
in the Committee’s Terms of Reference on which it is essential to take a 
decision. 
 
Appointments to the Sub-Committee are made, as far as is possible, in 
accordance with the Township Committee’s political balance. The proper 
appointment of Sub-Committees is required to permit the undertaking of 
delegated functions in accordance with statutory and procedural 
requirements, and appointments to Working Groups and Other Bodies are 
required to enable the Township Committee to undertake and to respond to 
the full range of issues relevant to the Township. 
 
 

Page 4



6 PENNINES TOWNSHIP FUNDS REVIEW 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Communities 
& Co-operation / Director of Neighbourhoods reviewing the revenue and 
capital expenditure during 2020/21 and providing options for the allocation of 
funds in 2021/22. 
 
A Member sought approval to create a specific fund for a Highway safety 
education programme within the Township.  In discussion it was noted that 
previous Boroughwide provisions had phased out although speeding on roads 
remained a specific issue within the Pennines Township. 
 
Alternatives considered 
Member were able to determine alternative arrangements within agreed 
delegated budgets. 
 
RESOLVED 
1. That the expenditure, commitments and balances for Pennines Township 

revenue and capital funds at financial year end 2020/21 (Appendix 1 and 
2) be noted.  

2. That the findings of the review of Township Funds 2020/21 (Appendix 3) 
and evaluations received to date for funded projects (Appendix 4) be 
noted.  

3. That approval be given to the allocation of Pennines Township Funds to 
funding streams in 2021/22 (Appendix 5).  

4. That approval be given to the terms and conditions for Pennines Township 
revenue and capital funds for 2021/22 (Appendix 6).  

5. That approval be given to the delegation arrangements for Pennines 
Township Funds 2021/22 as detailed at 4.6 of this report.  

6. That any uncommitted/unspent funds be reallocated to a central revenue 
or capital funding stream as appropriate before the end of January 2022 to 
enable Members to spend/commit all Pennines Township Funds during 
2021/22 financial year. 

7. That the Road Safety Group Members approach the other Townships 
Road Safety Group Members to ascertain if they are willing to match fund 
a percentage of their project funds to support an Education Programme for 
Children throughout the Borough. 

 
Reason for resolution 
Pennines Township Funds are allocated to projects that benefit the 
Township’s community and environment, and realise the Township priorities. 
 

7 PENNINES TOWNSHIP FUNDS 2021/22 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Communities 
and Co-operation / Director of Neighbourhoods updating on revenue and 
capital expenditure, commitments and balances of Pennines Township Funds 
2021/22 and enable the allocation of funds to proposed projects. 
 
Alternatives considered 
Members were able to approve or not the allocation of funds to projects as 
appropriate. 

Page 5



 
RESOLVED 
1. That the expenditure, commitments and balances for Pennines Township 

revenue and capital funds in Appendix 1 and 2, be noted.  
2. That the decisions made under delegated authority as detailed in Appendix 

3.  
3. That the Townships & Communities Manager, in consultation with the 

Chair and Vice Chair of the committee, to be given delegated authority to 
make decisions on any deferred projects. 

4. That the applications from Township Revenue Funds 2020/21 be dealt 
with as outlined in the below 

a. That an application Ramsden Road, Wardle - Speed survey be 
deferred pending further information on traffic calming options. 

b. That the Ferrand Road, Littleborough – Introduction of No Waiting 
At Any Time Restrictions be approved 

c. That the application from Milnrow Brass Band, for Restoration / 
replacement of instruments be approved for a total of £5k 

d. That the Wardle Memorial and Tennis Courts Disabled Access 
application be approved 

e. That the application for the Beechfield Road, Milnrow - No Waiting 
at Any Time Restrictions be declined. 

f. That the application from Milnrow Cricket Club for the Going Green 
project for £10k be approved, pending confirmation of the total 
amount of fund raising achieved by the Club.  

g. That the application from Wardle Anderson Brass Band be 
approved for a maximum of £5k. 

h. That the applications for improvements to Clough Street play area 
be approved 

i. That the Traffic Regulation Order for No/Limited Waiting on Ogden 
Lane be approved 

j. That the fencing for Hare Hill Crown Green Bowling Club be 
approved 

5. That the Chief Finance Officer be requested to review Township Funding.   
6. That costs projects submitted by the Council be provided with a summary 

of the charges. 
 
Reason for resolution 
Pennines Township Funds are allocated to projects that benefit the 
Township’s community and environment, and realise the Township priorities. 
 

Page 6



 

Report to Pennines Township Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 8th September 2021 

Portfolio Cabinet Member for 
Economy and 
Communications 

Report Author Kirsty Nicholls  

Public Document Public 

 

 

Draft Littleborough Station area Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 
1.1 A draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been produced for the 

Littleborough Station area to support the redevelopment and renewal of the 
area by providing detailed planning and design advice. This report seeks the 
views of the Township Committee on the content of the Draft SPD as part of 
a consultation with key stakeholders.   

 
Recommendation 

 

2.1 

 

 

 

 

Members of the Committee are requested to note the content of the Draft 
Supplementary Planning Document for the Littleborough Station area, and 
comment on its key objectives and proposals prior to the commencement of 
a subsequent a consultation to take place with key stakeholders, residents 
and businesses.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

 
Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, Supplementary 

Planning Documents build upon and provide more detailed advice or 
guidance on the policies in the Local Plan. Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out 
the requirements for producing SPDs. Regulation 12 requires that 
consultation is undertaken prior to the adoption of an SPD 

 
Key Points for Consideration 

 
 

4.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
4.2 
 

 

4.3 

 

 

 

Background 

During 2018/19 almost half a million passengers used Littleborough railway 
station.  As a gateway into the Borough, the sense of arrival and legibility with 
the town centre is poor.  The  regeneration and improvement of Littleborough 
Railway Station, and the surrounding land and buildings, represents a 
strategic priority for the Council to attract new residents and businesses to the 
area, contribute to an improved housing offer, create new attractive public 
realm and open space, re-purpose vacant land and buildings to improve this 
sense of place, and to capitalise and support further development and 
improvements to the rail network, including investment in infrastructure and 
services.  Rochdale Borough Council is seeking to promote transit led 
integrated development and place making around all our existing stations with 
the aim of unlocking the dormant potential of Rochdale’s stations through 
dynamic urban regeneration and the creation of a Transport-Orientated 
Community (TOC). The approach aims to add commercial benefit through 
access to transport but critically also aims to realise social value.  

Littleborough Station’s redevelopment and potential is an important vision 
which offers residents and businesses an opportunity to develop a 
sustainable community with a vibrant mixture of living, working and 
recreational opportunities.   

This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared to 
establish an appropriate framework to guide and deliver development by 
setting out the development, design and accessibility principles, and the 
identification of focus areas where more specific guidance is necessary.  

 

Page 8



4.4 

 

 

 

 

4.5 

 

 

 

4.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.7 

 

 

4.8 

 

4.9 

 

 

 

Participation and consultation so far 

The Council worked with the GM Stations Alliance, a newly established 
partnership between Rochdale Council, GM Combined Authority, Network 
Rail, LCR Property and Transport for Greater Manchester to prepare a 
regeneration masterplan for the existing stations within the Borough.  
Preparation of the Littleborough Station Masterplan has been widely 
consulted on with residents and businesses’ within the area. 

The Alliance proposes to consult on these draft proposals with landowners, 
residents and businesses with the aim to have an adopted Supplementary 
Planning Document in place to guide future development of the Litleborough 
station area and support investment in transport and other infrastructure.   

Purpose of a SPD 

The proposed Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will provide a 
development strategy for the Littleborough Station area. It outlines potential 
development opportunities within the area including options for the scale and 
mix of future proposals on a number of different sites and to enhance the 
marketability of vacant or under-utilised brownfield land and buildings for new 
development through enhanced public realm, traffic management and 
parking, and giving greater priority to the needs of pedestrians and cyclists to 
promote shorter journeys by sustainable modes of travel.  The SPD will 
provide further detailed guidance in order to achieve coherent and 
comprehensive development within the area and ensure the delivery of the 
necessary new infrastructure to provide a coherent and sustainable strategy 
to support new developments coming forward within the area. 

There is also an opportunity to make more of Littleborough town centre as a 
destination, , creating places where people want to live, work and visit   driving 
footfall to support existing business growth as well as attract new residents, 
business and investment to create a vibrant and thriving Town Centre, 
including boosting the evening and leisure economy.   

The SPD will also be used by the Council as a material consideration when 
determining future planning applications. 

The SPD will therefore provide further detail on how relevant policies in the 
Local Plan will be applied to the sites and principles for how development of 
the sites would best be taken forward. Notably Core Strategy policy SP3/P – 
The Strategy for the Pennines specifically sets out key development 
principles and proposes the following: 

 Promoting its role as the borough’s recreation and leisure destination 
and gateway to the South Pennines; 

Page 9



 

 

 

 

 

4.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Encouraging new and specialist retail within the town centre;  
 Encourage visitor growth and boost the leisure and evening economy 
 Enhancing the public transport interchange at Littleborough station; 
 Improving the public realm and enhancing the conservation area; and  
 Improving links and signing to surrounding tourism and visitor 

destinations including Hollingworth Lake, the canal corridor and 
South Pennines. 

The Supplementary Planning Document content  

The following is a summary of the content and structure within the consultation 
draft SPD: 

Introduction, vision, 
purpose and status 
of the SPD 

Explains why the SPD has been produced and how 
it is structured.   

Background, 
planning policy 
framework, relevant 
plans and strategies 

Sets out the broad policy framework that applies to 
the site, highlights the main Local Plan policies and 
relevant key plans and strategies that have informed 
the SPD. 
 

Development 
Context  

Describes the SPD area and provides a spatial 
portrait of the site. It also looks at the relationship 
with the adjoining areas. 
 

Development 
Principles 

Establishes the principles and parameters to guide 
future development for the next 10-15 years in the 
surrounding area. Specifically looking at: 

 Introduce new residential uses that provides 
for a mix of types and densities in close 
proximity to the station; 

 Define a village ‘heart’ centred around the 
junction of Church Street/Hare Hill Road and 
station approach 

 Improve the arrival/gateway experience at 
the railway station and connectivity to the 
village centre; 

 Increase the station parking provision; 
 Improve the pedestrian experience, with 

greater priority across the town centre; 
 Refurbishment of the railway arches and 

disused buildings for commercial uses; 
 Improve the existing public realm 

accommodating local servicing and parking 
requirements in addition to maintaining 
through route; 

 Create opportunities for street tree planting; 
 Create opportunities for cycle parking; 

Page 10



  Provide for public open space and links to 
the canal towpath (and beyond) 

 Complementary residential infill 
development, reinstating street frontages to 
Peel Street/Victoria Street. 

 
Design Principles Sets out an approach for landowners to follow when 

designing their schemes which will help ensure a 
high standard of design comes forward. Specifically 
looking at: 

 Public Realm 
 Urban design principles 

Transport and 
Access 

Explains what the concept of Transport Orientated 
Communities and which parking considerations, 
vehicle movements and connections are required 
within the SPD area and how transport issues will be 
considered in policy terms. 
 

Focus areas Sets out three broad areas of focus – each with 
different development considerations and guidance 
suitable for that area. It also sets out principles for 
the form and the types of uses which would be 
permitted within the potential focus areas, such as 
improving and creating new connections and public 
spaces, improved public realm, providing a mix of 
types and styles of homes for the community. 
 
The three focus areas are: 
 

 Harehill Road and Village Centre Area 
 Station and Area 
 Canal Side Area.  

 

Delivery and 
Implementation 

Explains how the development and infrastructure set 
out in the SPD is needed to support it will be secured 
and delivered.   
 

 

Next Steps 

Members of the Committee are requested to review the Draft Supplementary 
Planning Document for the Littleborough Station area, and comment on its 
key objectives and proposals ahead of a public consultation with key 
stakeholders, residents and businesses. Subject to Members views, a six 

Page 11



week period of public consultation on the document would commence later in 
September 2021. 

Alternatives considered 

Not producing this SPD will result in less clarity in terms of guidance to 
applicants and developers within this important regeneration area.  This may 
result in proposals which do not properly deal with planning requirements 
and result in poorer quality schemes being submitted. Furthermore, there 
could be a consequence should the Council consider to invoke its powers 
through the Compulsory Purchase Order process. 

 
Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from the 

recommendations within this report or for the Council’s involvement in the 
process at this stage. Consultation costs will be covered by existing planning 
budgets.   

 
Risk and Policy Implications 

 
There are no specific risk issues for members to consider arising from this 
report. 

6.1 

 

Consultation 

 
7.1 The Council will begin publicising and consulting for a period of six weeks 

in September 2021. During this time the document and supporting 
information will be published on the Council’s website. Due to restrictions 
that have arisen due to Covid-19, it is not proposed to hold any public 
meetings on the Supplementary Planning Document but a hard copy of the 
document will be made available for public inspection within open libraries 
within the Township area.   

Stakeholders on the Council’s planning policy database will also be notified 
by letter or email. 

 

 

 

Page 12



Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 
8. Draft Littleborough Station area 

SPD 

Consultation Statement 

 

 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

 

Council website 

 

To be provided in due course on 
Council Website 

 

Council Website 

 

For Further Information Contact:  

Kirsty Nicholls, Principal Planning Officer  

Kirsty.nicholls@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

Page 13



 

Littleborough Station 
Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) 

Draft September 2021 
 

 

Page 14



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk  

Document Control 

 

Document Title: Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) 
 
Summary 
 
Publication Date September 2021 

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation 

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012 

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents 

Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

Replaces  

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No 

Name of Partner(s) if joint N/A 

Policy Owner (Name/Position) Mark Robinson (Assistant Director – Economy) 

Policy Author (Name/Position) 
Kirsty Nicholls (Principal Planning Officer) 
 

Applies to  

 

Review of Policy 
 
Last Review Date  

Review undertaken by  

Next Review Date  

 

Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals. 
 
Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

Mark Robinson Assistant Director   

Paul Moore Head of Planning   

 

Page 15



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Background........................................................................................................................................................... 7 

3. Context ............................................................................................................................................................... 11 

4. Development Principles ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

5. Design Principles ................................................................................................................................................ 17 

6. Transport and Access ......................................................................................................................................... 18 

7. Focus Areas ........................................................................................................................................................ 19 

7.1 Focus Area 1: Harehill Road and Village Centre 21 

7.2 Focus Area 2: Station and Environs 22 

7.3 Focus Area 2: Canalside 24 

8. Delivery and Implementation................................................................................................................................. 26 

Appendix 1 – Glossary - TBC ........................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 3 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Introduction 

 
Littleborough is a historic settlement nestled within the Calder Valley and grew up largely around the River Roch and 
latterly with the construction of the Rochdale Canal and then the rail line became a thriving rural village. 
Today, the centre of the village retains the historic character with stone-built buildings unusual in Greater 
Manchester. 
 
The village is centred around the junction of Church Street and Hare Hill Road with several notable buildings. A 
Conservation Area covers most of the village centre, including the areas immediately in front of the railway station. 
To the south of the canal the land is protected through Green Belt status and the entirety of the Rochdale Canal 
corridor is also considered a site of biological interest. 
 
Littleborough railway station is a stop on 2 main route groups, namely the Blackburn and Manchester Victoria line 
and the Leeds, Chester, Warrington Bank Quay and Wigan Wallgate, via Manchester Victoria line. The service 
provision between Monday and Saturday into Rochdale is 8 mins with 4 trains an hour; into Manchester Victoria of 
23 minutes with 1 train an hour; and, into Leeds is 73 minutes with 1 train an hour (the service to Manchester 
Victoria).  The station has experienced significant passenger growth of more than 30% in the last 20 years serving 
almost 500,000 passengers during 2018/19.   
 
The station is a focus area of this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) that provides a gateway experience for 
those arriving in the village and the departure point for those commuting into Rochdale, Manchester and further 
afield. The station area also provides the link between the village centre with the canal and on to the wider 
Hollingworth Lake Country Park and Rochdale canal to the south via the pedestrian underpass. 
 
This area directly outside the station buildings and the approach to the Town Centre is currently dominated by 
vehicular movements associated with the bus stops and turning area; the station car park; drop-off/pick-up and short 
stay parking for the two and the Co-op Car park accesses.  There is no priority for pedestrians and a lack of footways.  
This results in the gateway experience into the area for visitors via the rail network being extremely poor with limited 
wayfinding and natural navigation.  
 
The aim of the SPD in this area is to improve the gateway experience for visitors and commuters and link together 
the town centre and canal via an enhanced and/or new public realm that rebalance the area for pedestrians.  The 
document also seeks to promote the area as a location for new residential development and working space and to 
increase footfall and vibrancy of the Town Centre, including the evening and visitor economy.    
 

It is envisaged that all these objectives will create an enhanced public interface with an improved public realm. It is 

important that the Council aspire to utilise its current assets and create a welcome arrival to Littleborough, 

improving perceptions of personal safety and navigation.  

 
As a gateway into the Borough, the regeneration and improvement of Littleborough Railway Station, and the 
surrounding land and buildings, represents a strategic priority for the Council to attract new residents and businesses 
to the area, contribute to an improved housing offer, create new public realm and open space, re-purpose vacant 
land and buildings, and to capitalise and support further development and improvements to the rail network.  . 
Rochdale Borough Council is seeking to promote transit led integrated development and place making around 
existing stations with the aim of unlocking the dormant potential of Rochdale’s stations through dynamic urban 

Page 17



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 4 

regeneration and the creation of a Transport-Orientated Community (TOC). The approach aims to add commercial 
benefit through access to transport but critically also aims to realise social value.  
 
Littleborough Station’s redevelopment and potential is an important vision which offers residents and businesses an 
opportunity to develop a sustainable community in an attractive market location with a vibrant mixture of living, 
working and recreational opportunities.   
 
This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared to establish an appropriate framework to guide 
and deliver development by setting out the development, design and accessibility principles, and the identification of 
focus areas where more specific guidance is necessary.  
 

1.2 The Vision 

The redevelopment of the station area will recognise the rich cultural heritage in Littleborough; draw on distinctive 
characteristics and amplify to create a modern identity for the Station area. With the station at its heart, an uplifted 
village centre attractive to new residents and businesses with an improved station gateway to support 
development sensitive to the existing historic fabric, building on Littleborough’s unique identity. 
 
The vision for Littleborough includes: 
  

 Connecting sustainably to the attracted countryside location and wider area housing sites. 

 Attract a young professional demographic with options for living and working. 

 Improve arrival/departure experience and create opportunities for improved public realm. 
 
The SPD for the station area builds on the strengths of the existing village centre, businesses and community to 
enhance them through improvements to the residential and commercial availability, landscape, public realm, and 
associated infrastructure.  This will be to the benefit of the current community, the wider surroundings, and future 
residents of the area and will support the further enhancement of Littleborough Village Centre. 
 
The objectives include: 
 

 Station as Catalyst – Release the potential of the railway connection to Rochdale, Manchester and abound to 
support growth in Littleborough. 

 Future Lifestyle – Embracing changing urban lifestyle and connect the strategic residential sites 

 Future Place – Celebrate the railway heritage, local assets and building opportunities for new businesses to 
open in the town. 

 Future Mobility – Enhancing the existing transit infrastructure to access employment, services and 
Culture. 

 
The priorities include: 
 

 Improve the arrival/gateway experience at the railway station and increase parking 

 Define a village ‘heart’ 

 Promote the station as a gateway experience creating a new gateway public square outside the station that 
enhances the arrival experience to Rochdale towns; 

 Create a place that has a distinct, vibrant and authentic identity that places people at the centre to celebrate 
and build upon the strong local communities and heritage; 

Page 18



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 5 

 Establish a clear hierarchy of movement and access, centred on a transit hub for the future, that is accessible 
for everyone to navigate to and from; 

 Promote a high quality, high density residential led development around the station that is complimented by 
a mix of land uses that create a flexible and resilient community that further supports and drives the 
economic growth of Rochdale; 

 Provide uses that create vibrancy and activity throughout the day, evenings and weekend 

 A ‘place led’ approach built around Streets for All. 

 To promote healthy living and to support the viability of existing and new businesses. 
 

1.3 Purpose and status of the SPD 

The purpose of this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is to provide a land use and development strategy for 
the Littleborough Station area. Whilst recognising the heritage assets of the area, it outlines potential development 
opportunities within the area including options for the scale and mix of future proposals on a number of different 
sites.  
 
The SPD elaborates upon policies within the Rochdale Core Strategy (2016), notably policy SP3/P – The Strategy for 
the Pennines which provides a vision and strategy for the township. The introductory text states ‘Littleborough will 
be a key gateway and service centre for the adjoining Pennine edge’. The policy has as one of its priorities the 
delivery of a high quality station gateway providing for: 
 

 Promoting its role as the borough’s recreation and leisure destination and gateway to the South Pennines; 

 Encouraging new and specialist retail within the town centre;  

 Enhancing the public transport interchange at Littleborough station; 

 Improving the public realm and enhancing the conservation area; and  

 Improving links and signing to surrounding tourism and visitor destinations including Hollingworth Lake, the 
canal corridor and South Pennines. 

 
The SPD will also be used by the Council as a material consideration when determining future planning applications 
and to establish a framework for investment building upon the policies contained within the Council’s Core Strategy 
document and the Masterplan which: 
 

 Sets out a development vision for the area;  

 Provides greater certainty on the uses, form and quality of acceptable development, including the public 
realm and guidance for development partners on how this might be achieved;  

 Assists the Council in the assessment of planning applications; and 

 Provides a basis for future decision on assembling land to provide certainty, including the potential use of 
Compulsory Purchase Orders. 

 
Technical evidence 
 
In preparing this SPD: 
 

1. WSP/ Broadway Malyan & GL Hearn – part of the GM2080 team provided technical support on design and 
townscape illustrations. More information on the design approach that informed the SPD is provided in the 
design principles section later in this document. 

Page 19



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 6 

2. WSP/ Broadway Malyan & GL Hearn provided support on the accessibility and movement strategy.  More 
information on the accessibility approach that informed the SPD is provided within the Transport section can 
be found in Chapter 6  

3. WSP/ Broadway Malyan & GL Hearn provided technical support in terms of viability and delivery strategy 
underpinning the masterplan.  More information on phasing and delivery can be found in Chapter X 

4. The Council worked with the GM Stations Alliance, a newly established partnership between Rochdale 
Council, GM Combined Authority, Network Rail, LCR Property and Transport for Greater Manchester.   

 

Page 20



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 7 

2. Background  

2.1 Policy Context 

The document is designed to supplement Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) however, it should be read in conjunction 
with all national and local planning policy and guidance documents including those outlined below; including any 
other relevant documents which may emerge during the lifetime of this document as material considerations. 
 

2.2 National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 

The Framework sets out national planning policy, providing strategic direction on a wide range of planning matters. It 
is supplemented by Planning Practice Guidance which gives further guidance on how policy should be interpreted. 
 
At the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This presumption should be 
reflected in the plan-making process and any associated guidance. The Framework states that development should 
be approved unless any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits of that development.  
 
The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment, which creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.  Planning policies and decisions 
should ensure that development responds to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting; however, authorities should not prevent or discourage appropriate innovation 
or change. The Framework seeks to ensure that developments establish or maintain a strong sense of place, 
optimising the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and mix that function well, 
are safe, inclusive and accessible. 
 
The SPD has been positively prepared. It seeks to regenerate and attract investment into the area and wider 
Rochdale Town Centre, taking forward identified opportunities to meet the housing needs and aspirations of the 
area’s community both now and in the future. 
 

2.3 Core Strategy (2016) 

Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) is the key element of the development plan for Rochdale and will be used in 
determining planning applications for sites in and around the station area. 
 
Key policy implications are set out in relation to each site identified in this SPD but it will be important to consider all 
the relevant policies of the Core Strategy when preparing site-specific proposals. 
 
The Core Strategy SP3/P – The Strategy for the Pennines specifically sets out key development principles and 
proposes the following: 
 

 Promoting its role as the borough’s recreation and leisure destination and gateway to the South Pennines; 

 Encouraging new and specialist retail within the town centre;  

 Enhancing the public transport interchange at Littleborough station; 

 Improving the public realm and enhancing the conservation area; and  

 Improving links and signing to surrounding tourism and visitor destinations including Hollingworth Lake, the 
canal corridor and South Pennines. 

 

Page 21



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 8 

Places For Everyone Joint Development Plan 
 
Up until December 2020 a joint development plan document of the ten Greater Manchester local authorities was 
being prepared, Greater Manchester’s Plan for Jobs, Homes & the Environment (known as the “GMSF”).   
 
Following the decision of Stockport to withdraw from the GMSF, the remaining nine districts agreed to progress a 
joint development plan for the remaining nine districts to be known as ‘Places for Everyone’ (PfE).  A new joint 
committee has been formed to progress PfE with the intention to move to the next stage of plan preparation subject 
to approval by the nine individual districts. 
 
The main benefits of producing a Joint Development Plan include: 

 Underpinning Greater Manchester’s plan for recovery from Covid 

 Supporting delivery of the Greater Manchester Strategy 

 Providing a framework to manage growth in a sustainable and inclusive way, avoid un-planned development 
and development by appeal 

 Aligning the delivery of development with infrastructure proposals 

 Meeting the requirement for local authorities to have a local plan in place by December 2023. 

 Meeting the Duty to Co-operate in s33A Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004  
 

2.4 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 

When considering any type of development, relevant SPDs at the time of publication of this document include: 

 The Oldham and Rochdale Urban Design Guide Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs); 

 Littleborough Town Design SPD; 

 Affordable Housing SPD; 

 Climate Change and Adaptation SPD; 

 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD; and 

 Biodiversity and Development SPD. 
 

All SPDs are available to view on the Council’s website. 
 

2.5 How the SPD was prepared 

Two companion documents have been prepared as supporting evidence to this SPD. These are: 
 

 Littleborough Station Masterplan 

The GM Stations Alliance commissioned WSP and Broadway Malyan in 2019 to prepare a masterplan for the 
Littleborough Station area and identify a vision and priorities in order for the aspirations of the Council to be realised.  
 
The Masterplan was developed in collaboration with the Council to ensure there was agreement on all elements of 
the masterplan, from the vision through to use framework.  The process was supported by in depth discussions and 
consultations with statutory consultees and other interested bodies. The document also outlined key delivery and 
implementation mechanisms in order for the vision aspirations to be realised. 
 

Page 22



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 9 

 Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy 

The document outlines an aspirational vision to create approximately 7,000 new homes and 250,000 square metres 
of employment space along the Calder Valley rail corridor over the next two decades. The document provides a high-
level masterplan, proposing major development that is centred around the borough’s five railway stations; Rochdale, 
Castleton, Smithy Bridge, Littleborough and Mills Hill, as well as to support plans for a new station at Slattocks and 
GMCA  plans for a tram – train pathfinder scheme to connect Rochdale with Heywood via Castleton and onwards to 
Bury. The plans priorities the creation of new neighbourhoods on underused brownfield sites, which are close to 
local amenities and public transport links. 
 
The strategy is being delivered in collaboration with the newly formed Greater Manchester Station Alliance, a 
partnership of Network Rail; Northern Rail; the Greater Manchester Combined Authority; Transport for Greater 
Manchester; and regeneration specialists, London and Continental Railways (LCR). 

Page 23



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 10 

 

Page 24



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 11 

3. Context 

The area covered by this SPD covers the area to the north of the railway station and takes in the commercial centre 
(Church Street / Hare Hill Road) and land alongside the Rochdale Canal. This is shown in Figure 1 below. 

 

Figure 1 - Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document Area 

The railway, Littleborough’s rural location, the River Roch and the Rochdale Canal are key assets and attractions for 
both residents and visitors to the town and surrounding countryside.  
 
There is a visual connection between the town and the countryside upon arrival into the station. The masterplan 
seeks to build upon this whilst strengthen the physical connectivity between both, via the railway station and area of 
land adjacent to the canal. 
 
Littleborough is a historic settlement within the Calder Valley and grew up largely around the River Roch and latterly 
with the construction of the Rochdale Canal and then the rail line became a thriving rural village. Today, the centre of 
the village retains the historic character with Pennine stone-built buildings in contrast with many parts of Greater 
Manchester. 
 
The village is centred around the junction of Church Street and Hare Hill Road with several notable buildings. 
 

Page 25



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 12 

A Conservation Area covers most of the village centre, including the areas immediately in front of the railway station. 
To the south of the canal the land is protected through Green Belt status and the entirety of the Rochdale Canal 
corridor is also considered a site of biological interest. 
 
The centre of Littleborough contains a good mix of uses in addition to the largely residential core. Uses include retail 
(including a mix of ‘high street’ brands and independent retail), convenience retail (small supermarkets), health 
provision and food and drink/ leisure. 
 
The SPD area has been divided into three focus areas, although it is essential that these are comprehensively 
designed to complement each other and its surrounding neighbourhoods. The three focus areas are: 
 

 Station Area – this incorporates the area immediately adjacent to the Railway Station; 
 Village Area – this incorporates Church Street, Hare Hill Road and the surrounding commercial centre; and  
 Canal Side – this includes the area adjacent to the canal and its surrounds.  

 
In all three focus areas the driving land use is high quality residential with opportunities for suitable flexible work / 
office accommodation and supporting retail and leisure uses. The area has been recognised as needing investment in 
order to meet passenger demand, provide a high-quality gateway space into the Town Centre, provide a clear route 
for visitors, quality urban housing as well as improvement to the station facilities for passengers and station area. 
Further detail on each focus area can be found in Chapter 7. 
 
 
 

Page 26



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 13 

 

Page 27



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 14 

4. Development Principles 

The SPD establishes the principles and parameters to guide future development for the next 10 years and beyond. 
This will enable the realisation of the vision and objectives for the Littleborough Station area that were established in 
the masterplan.  The overarching principle of this SPD is the creation of thriving, vibrant, sustainable communities in 
Littleborough Station.  In order to achieve this, the SPD will seek to efficiently use land, provide a better quality and 
variety of housing by type and tenure, good and environmentally sensitive design, improvement to public open space 
and public realm and access to employment and job opportunities, community facilities and local services.  
 
In order to make Littleborough Station a desirable and sustainable place to live and work, the SPD places strong 
emphasis on the following:  
 

 Introduce new residential uses that provides for a mix of types and densities in close proximity to the station. 

 Define a village ‘heart’ centred around the junction of Church Street/Hare Hill Road and station approach 

 Improve the arrival/gateway experience at the railway station and connectivity to the village centre; 

 Increase the station parking provision; 

 Accommodate a bus interchange with rail services; 

 Improve the pedestrian experience, with greater priority across the town centre; 

 Refurbishment of the railway arches and disused buildings for commercial uses 

 Improve the existing public realm accommodating local servicing and parking requirements in addition to 
maintaining through route; 

 Create opportunities for street tree planting; 

 Create opportunities for cycle parking; 

 Provide for public open space and links to the canal towpath (and beyond) 

 Complementary residential infill development, reinstating street frontages to Peel Street/Victoria Street. 
 
These principles are discussed in further detail below. 
 
 

4.1 Introduction of residential uses  

The provision of housing within Littleborough is typically focused towards those for families with very little provision 
for the next generation of residents of Littleborough as they area starting out in life. This is highlighted by the types 
of new developments that are being promoted by private developers that looking to develop lower density family 
homes. 
 
Littleborough has a thriving town centre and the Council keen to ensure there is a sufficient supply of suitable 
commercial premises to cater for the demand from existing businesses and attract new businesses to locate in the 
town. 
 
New development within the masterplan area should be formulated to provide opportunities to meet the demand 
for new business premises in the town and the type of which enhances the attractiveness of the town centre for 
existing and future residents. 
 
This principle ensures that opportunities for development and regeneration within the masterplan area are 
considered appropriately and promoted as required. Opportunities for residential development should consider a 
mix of typologies including apartments, seeking to diversify the demographic in Littleborough and appeal to new 

Page 28



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 15 

residents. Other uses could include local retail and business/ commercial premises to support local entrepreneurs 
and business-owners. 
 

4.2 Define a ‘Village’ heart 

This principle seeks to reintroduce a space at the heart of Littleborough as a focal point for the community. 
Using the war memorial and the space around the road junction, improvements to public realm and review of road 
layout/ carriageway widths should provide more space for pedestrians and cyclists without compromising the 
function of the road network. 
 

4.3 Improve the arrival/gateway experience at the railway 

The station is a focus area of this masterplan study that provides a gateway experience for those arriving in the town, 
and the departure point for those commuting into Rochdale, Manchester and further afield. The station area also 
provides the link between the town centre with the canal and on to the wider countryside via the pedestrian 
underpass. 
 
This area directly outside the station buildings and the approach along is currently dominated by vehicular 
movements associated with the bus stops and turnaround; the station car park; drop-off/pick-up and short stay 
parking for the two and the Co-op Car park accesses. 
 
The aim of the SPD in this area is to improve the gateway experience for visitors and commuters and link together 
the town centre and canal via an enhanced and/or new public realm that rebalance the for pedestrians. 
 
In developing and testing options for the masterplan that fit with the overarching aims and the vision that have been 
established at the start of the process, the following key principles we agreed with stakeholders. 
 

4.4 Increase the capacity of car parking 

Increasing the capacity of the car park at the railway station so this can assist in freeing up space kerbside within the 
town centre, residential streets and alongside the canal for the use by Littleborough residents, businesses and 
visitors 
 

4.5 Accommodate a bus interchange with rail services 

This principle supports the sustainable transport objectives of the document by ensuring there are wider sustainable 
connections for railway passengers that are easily accessible. 
 

4.6 Improve the pedestrian experience 

This principle supports improvements to the public realm along the key streets through the centre of Littleborough. 
Providing more space and comfort for pedestrians and cyclists will improve connectivity and linkages through the 
village centre, in particular between the station and the retail core. 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 29



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 16 

4.7 Refurbishment of the railway arches and disused buildings for commercial use 

The existing railway arches are a key asset within the area and the principles supports their refurbishments for 
appropriate commercial uses. There will be improved public realm to the front of the arches with high quality paving 
and street planting, glazed infills to the arches themselves with activity inside. Improved crossings to Canal Street 
linking access to the station to the rear where the existing footpath runs under the viaduct will be a key objective. 
 

4.8 Provide a mix of densities and housing types 

Increasing the density of housing in locations that have a high level of accessibility by sustainable modes of transport 
is a key part of the over strategy for Greater Manchester, set out in the Places for Everyone Plan (PfE)). The strategy 
sets out that ‘new housing should be delivered at a density appropriate to the location, reflecting the relative 
accessibility of the site by walking, cycling and public transport, in accordance with the minimum densities shown in 
Figure 8. 
 
This SPD promotes the emerging PfE guidance on density of residential development in proximity to rail stations and 
Metrolink stops. The utilisation of sustainable brownfield development and town centre living is key to the 
achievement of efficient use of space and sustainable development.  
  
The majority of the station area is within 400m of the Littleborough railway station and, as shown in Figure X below. 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 17 

 

5. Design Principles  

It is one of the main aims of this SPD and its proposals to address the key issues and problems identified in the 
previous section and to help guide future development in the SPD area whilst ensuring it is of the highest possible 
quality. This section sets out key principles for urban design and public realm.  
 
Public Realm 
 
The public realm strategy defines the extent and type of improvements which should be considered in the 
streetscape within the SPD area. The potential for the pedestrianisation of key spaces and streets, improvements to 
public realm and the review of the highway layout to improve the pedestrian experience will facilitate improved 
development opportunities.  
 
Any development should be of a high quality and adhere to the principles of the Littleborough Town Design SPD.  
 

Page 31



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 18 

1.  

6. Transport and Access  

This section contains a summary of the main transport issues affecting the SPD area, particular, issues that will need 
to be taken into account when considering the future development of the Rochdale Station area and revitalisation of 
the Town Centre for new development.  
 
The overall objective of the movement strategy for the SPD area is to enable pedestrians, people with impaired 
mobility and cyclists to have better connectivity within and to adjoining areas including Rochdale Town Centre.  
Across the SPD area, there is a lack of facilities for cyclists and pedestrians and priority is given to motorised traffic. 
This reduces choice and channels pedestrians to crossing locations that may be less than conveniently located for 
their particular journey. 
 
An inclusive and legible movement network should manifest itself in a well-defined hierarchy of streets, safe 
pedestrian and cycle routes, and correct distribution of land uses. The general aims of the access and movement 
strategy are to create an interconnected network of streets and public spaces, integrate communities, arrange and 
align routes first and foremost for ease of walking and cycling and create a strong connection with surrounded areas. 
 
Transit Orientated Communities 
 
A Transit-Orientated Community (TOC) is a project that mixes residential and commercial opportunities with the 
objective of optimising the use of land and maximising access to public transport. The goal is to achieve important 
sustainability aspirations that have the potential to be a great catalyst for adopting new development strategies that 
will make Littleborough more liveable. A TOC approach adds commercial benefit through access to transport but 
critically also aims to realise social value and provide a ‘plan led’ approach for local and transport authorities. 

 
Central to the wider objectives and strategy for the station area, including the creation of the ‘village heart’, is the 
reorganisation of the vehicular movements. The key driver for the vehicle movement strategy is the removal of 
traffic from in front of the northern station entrance.  
 
The Streets for All methodology is aimed at delivering a balance between modes within the street network. Walking 
and cycling are prioritised and encouraged, and the space available to them is increased to provide a more 
comfortable and safer environment. Conflict between modes will be minimised at key points throughout the SPD 
area. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 19 

7. Focus Areas 

Proposals for areas identified in this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) should take account of the 
development, design and transport principles detailed in earlier sections, the overall vision, and the area specific 
information set out below (see map below for all character areas).  These character areas have been identified 
through their different characteristics in order to provide an analysis of the issues and opportunities within the 
overall SPD. 
 
Within the Core Area of the SPD boundary, a number of distinct focus areas have been identified. A fourth area 
behind the station has been identified of which consist of an existing residential area.  
 
The three Focus Areas are shown of Figure X below and are: 
 
1. Harehill Road and Village Centre Area 
2. Station and Area 
3. Canal Side Area.  
 

 
Figure 2 – Focus Areas in SPD 
 
 
 

Page 33



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 20 

Throughout each focus area an emphasis will be to: 
 

 Improve and increase the residential offering; 

 Providing a mixture of local amenities; 

 Providing complementary commercial uses; 

 Providing multifunctional spaces; and 

 Improve sustainable modes of access to and from the surrounding areas from the station centre are also 

critical in each focus area as is integration with the wider town centre.  

The purpose of this section is to set out in more detail how we anticipate these areas to develop, and determine 
what role and function they have in delivering the overall vision for the Station area. This includes identifying 
appropriate future uses as well as the design and development considerations throughout this SPD. 
 
Proposals for areas identified in this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) should take account of the 
development, design and transport principles detailed in earlier sections, the overall vision, and the area specific 
information set out below (see map below for all focus areas).  These focus areas have been identified through their 
different characteristics in order to provide an analysis of the issues and opportunities within the overall SPD. 
 
The focus areas are not rigidly defined for development and do not imply separate developments are sought or 
appropriate for these areas.  Instead, development within the whole SPD area should be undertaken in a co-
ordinated manner paying regard to all the guidance in this SPD, in order to deliver a well-planned and designed, 
coherent, interconnected and integrated development that delivers the regeneration of the wider Station Area. 
 
The strategy is to create three distinct character areas (numbered 1-3) that are integrated with each other and within 
the existing communities. 
 
 
 

Page 34



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 21 

7.1 Focus Area 1: Hare Hill Road and Village Centre 

The area and approach around the station is key to this SPD and the overall regeneration of the Station Quarter and 
wider area. Figure X below shows the Focus Area in the context of the wider SPD area. 
 

 
 
Figure 3 – Hare Hill and Village Centre 
 
The key development principles of this area are: 

 
 Provide alternative areas for car parking to improve pedestrian environment and connectivity along Hare Hill 

Road, Church Street and through to the Station; 

 New commercial units and local parking proposed on underutilised site (demolish low quality existing 
buildings), fronting directly onto Victoria Street and creating a strong building line. 

 Narrow carriageway of Church Street. 

 Improve pedestrian crossings to A58 

 Improvements to public realm including street trees  
 
It is envisaged that a mix of land uses would be appropriate within this area including: 
 

 Retail and café style developments; 

 Small scale flexible office space,  

Page 35



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 22 

 Residential developments which encompass ground floor commercial space fronting the station and station 
square; 

 Community facilities, including potential for outdoor events space 
 
The design of new development around the station should demonstrate how it has taken account of the guidance 
within the Urban Design Guide and the Littleborough Town Design Statement and its understanding of form, context, 
hierarchy, scale and proportion along with the new Station Square centre and the existing urban form. 
 
The existing key landmarks and buildings should be enhanced through new development or area improvements.  
Strong active frontages and the use of quality materials should be appropriate to the conservation setting. There is 
opportunity to promote and enhance the conservation area through the SPD. The delivery aims of each area should 
provide space for community interaction and deliver high quality new and established neighbourhoods and flagship 
developments. Public spaces should be well designed and relate to the buildings around them. 
 

7.2 Focus Area 2: Station and Environs 

The station area is immediately adjacent to the train station. As a local transport interchange, within the settlement 
hierarchy, this station area provides links to local towns and neighbourhoods as well as wider links to Manchester 
and Leeds. When leaving the station, the connection to the village centre will be improved as part of the 
redevelopment of the area for new public realm. There is opportunity for high quality and well-designed high density 
housing developments within this character area. Using the existing high quality buildings as a backdrop, there is 
scope to create a sense of arrival and an excellent, safe public space in the form of a new civic square. 
 
The station will be the heart of the redevelopment and should seek to balance the wider context of the station 
requirements as well as with a sympathetic relationship to the conservation area.   
 

Page 36



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 23 

 
 
Figure 4 – Station and Environs 
 
Key development proposals for the whole area include: 
 

 Explore the opportunities to make more efficient use of the existing Co-op site to develop an enhanced food 
store offer with residential and other compatible commercial uses; 

 Relocate buses away from immediate station to create an enhanced arrival plaza; 

 Enhance the pedestrian and cycle links to promote sustainable transport connections to and from the 
station; 

 Rationalise parking in the area, including decking of existing station car park, to meet the needs of the 
station and existing/future commercial uses in the area.   

 
The site is in a sustainable and accessible location and is a key site in regards to its relationship to the town centre 
and train station. Integrated pathways must provide attractive and safe walking routes by improving accessibility and 
permeability via high quality to the public realm, which in turn reduces the carbon footprint through increased 
walking and cycling.  
 

 

Page 37



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 24 

7.3 Focus Area 2: Canalside 

 
 
 Figure 5 – Canalside 
 
The Canalside area offers the opportunity to make best use of the existing asset of the railway arches. It is proposed 
that pedestrian links will be enhanced to ensure effective connectivity between the arches, planned housing and 
commercial space and the wider Village Centre.  
 
Key development proposals for the area include: 
 

 Retain / refurbishment of existing business premises and building into workshops / work space and/or 
residential; 

 Improved public realm, new paving, street planting and re-purposing of under-utilised space;  

 Enhance links through to canal towpath (leisure uses link to tourism/ footpath etc) and connectivity through 
to Station; 

 Utilise the space under the railway arches for  food and beverage uses, work space with potential dual 
frontage to Canal Street and River Roch; 

 Traffic calming and improvements to the pedestrian crossing points between Canalside and station entrance 
and railway arches; 

 Footbridges across Ealees Brook to connect Canalside towards railway arches and into the station area. 
 

Page 38



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 25 

 
 
Each site will accommodate a variety of well-designed dwellings, from low to high density. Appropriate size, 
proportion, scale and character is expected. There is a focus on providing local amenities to current and future 
residents and commuters to the station, creating a sustainable community setting. There is the potential to provide a 
vibrant community feel which enhances the area as a desirable place to live by making use of its Canalside location.  
The Rochdale Canal is steeped in history, and this historical context can be used as a focus for its regeneration. 
 
The addition of high quality public realm encourages the use of streets and spaces and can significantly add to the 
quality of life and the image of the area. Well-designed public realm can create a ‘sense of place’, and enhance new 
and existing buildings as well as identifying key gateways and corridors which can encourage further investment. 
Key routes that connect to wider open spaces should be protected and improved such as the canal corridor. Local 
accessibility and permeability through the area needs to be strengthened with a particular focus on improving 
existing facilities for walking and cycling.  
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 26 

 

8. Delivery and Implementation 

Introduction 
 
The need for a robust and coherent delivery strategy has been a core principle running throughout the SPD process 
which underpins this SPD. This has included but is not limited to: a realistic and sound understanding of market 
aspirations and potential for change and investment, integrated feasibility and viability analysis which seeks to 
maximise public and private sector funding streams, and the need for land assembly to deliver the identified 
regeneration opportunity.  
 
Comprehensive Development 
 
This SPD supports and seeks a comprehensively planned and delivered mixed-use redevelopment in the 
Littleborough Station Area. The re-development should enhance the range and quality of the residential offer within 
the Littleborough area, provide opportunities for limited retail, new commercial and cultural space, and promote 
active travel for local journeys into the centre through improved public realm.  The proposals will enhance the 
attractiveness of Littleborough centre for residents, visitors and business and support further investment.    
 
In order to deliver the major step change necessary to achieve the Vision, Aim and Objectives set out in the 
beginning of this SPD it is considered that, at a minimum, a comprehensive co-ordinated development needs to be 
delivered for all the area covered by the character and focus areas  
 
Market Demand Considerations 
 
The Council’s latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment (Draft, 2015) supports a need for the increased delivery of 
family houses sized 2-bedrooms and above to meet emerging need. In addition there is a recognised need to deliver 
a housing product within the SPD area to facilitate re-housing existing residents to release sites for development. 
There is also an identified need for a specialist older persons housing.  
 
Soft market testing undertaken with a number of national and regional regeneration housebuilders and contractors 
has supported the view that there is a strong and continued interest in investing within the SPD area. 
 
Partnership Working 
 
It is prudent that the partnership working be embedded in the delivery of a comprehensive development. 
 
Delivery Approach 
 
The GM Stations Alliance working alongside G L Hearn and Broadway Malyan have produced a realistic delivery 
approach for the SPD area. Where it is identified to be necessary the Council is willing to use its statutory powers 
(including Compulsory Purchase Orders) to facilitate the holistic and comprehensive delivery of development and 
investment across the whole area. 
 
The SPD seeks the comprehensive development and regeneration of the area captured within its boundary. Working 
alongside its partners, including but not limited to the Greater Manchester Stations Alliance, Network Rail and land 
owners, it is intended that investment may be delivered through the procurement of development partners.  
 

Page 40



Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 27 

Any development proposals promoted outside of this structure by individual landowners or interested parties will be 
required to demonstrate that they facilitate and contribute to the delivery of the wider regeneration objectives set 
out in this SPD and the Masterplan, and do not in any way prejudice its delivery. 
 
Infrastructure and S106 Contributions 
 
The Council will seek S106 contributions where these are necessary to make individual proposals acceptable in 
planning terms. The Council will also consider the ring fencing of contributions from development within the area to 
support future investment and on-going maintenance of infrastructure, such as public realm and open spaces, within 
the SPD area.   
 
Applicants should be aware of the ambitions to deliver wider betterment through the inclusion of improved 
sustainable transport opportunities. 
 
Delivery of affordable housing as part of residential developments is an established policy requirement across 
Rochdale. Policy C4 of the Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (2016) requires an affordable housing contribution of 
7.5% of the development sales value of the overall scheme, with a preference for on-site delivery of an affordable 
product to meet local need. The policy allows for exceptional circumstances where off-site contributions will be 
accepted.  
 
Notwithstanding identified local need for affordable housing provision across Rochdale, this SPD recognises the need 
to diversify housing supply within the Littleborough Station area. It is recognised that the delivery of market housing 
within this area is required to deliver this diversification and to ensure the sustainability of retained affordable 
housing in the area – with only partial clearance of the existing estates proposed.  
 
The SPD requires a clear and robust strategy around the strategic delivery of affordable housing, including an 
intermediate product, which can and should be delivered through future planning applications. This should include 
consideration of retained and improved affordable housing supply, the role for affordable supply as part of new 
developments to contribute to the wider implementation of the masterplan (including recognition of the need to re-
house residents from redevelopment areas), and/or the contribution that off-site delivery could make to delivering 
the overall ambitions of the masterplan. 
 
Planning Application Requirements 
 
This SPD will be a material consideration in any future planning application relating to any site within its boundary; 
accordingly, any planning applications for development within the area will need to be supported by sufficient 
evidence and information to demonstrate they embed appropriate responses to the requirements set out within this 
SPD. This includes the need for justification for and evidence supporting any deviations from the requirements set 
out within the SPD. 
 
The Council has a series of checklists summarising validation requirements associated with different types of 
applications, available at http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-
permission/planning-permission---home/application-forms-and-guidance. These checklists should be adhered to by 
all applications to demonstrate that development is appropriate in planning terms.

Page 41

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/planning-permission---home/application-forms-and-guidance
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/planning-permission---home/application-forms-and-guidance


Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
      

rochdale.gov.uk 28 

 
  

 
 

Rochdale Borough Council 

Strategic Planning Team 

Number One Riverside 

Smith Street 

Rochdale OL16 1YH 

 

  rochdale.gov.uk 

  01706 924252 

  strategic.planning@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 42



 
 

  
 

 
 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
 

Draft Littleborough Station 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2021 

 
 
 
 

Page 43



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ROCHDALE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK  
 
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) is a measure that public authorities often carry out prior 
to implementing a policy, with a view to ascertaining its potential impact on equality. Such 
assessments are not required by law, although are a way of facilitating and evidencing compliance 
with the Public Sector Equality Duty. 
 
This Equalities Impact Assessment has been prepared as a supporting document for the 
Littleborough Station Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).  
 
The SPD has been produced to support and guide appropriate development, change, investment 
and improvements in the future of the area over the next 10 to 15 years. 
 
 
Equalities Impact Assessment and Target Groups 
 
The purpose of this Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure the proposed SPD for the 
Littleborough Station Area integrates the best outcome for those affected by spatial development 
and mitigates any negative impacts, in respect of the protected characteristics defined by the 
Equality Act 2010. These are: 
 

 Age; 

 Disability; (Disability Discrimination Act 2005, GLA Disability Equality Scheme 2005, 
Special Educational Needs and Disability Act 2001) 

 Gender reassignment; 

 Marriage and civil partnership; 

 Pregnancy and maternity; 

 Race; (Race Relations Act 1976, Amendment 2000, Amendment Regulations 2003) 

 Religion or belief; 

 Sex; (Sex Discrimination Act 1975); and 

 Sexual orientation. 
 

This EqIA is an opportunity to consider whether a policy, strategy or approach, affects all groups in 
the same way or whether there are is a significant positive, negative or neutral impact on particular 
groups before a policy is formally introduced. 
 
On the whole, EqIAs should make sure that equality is placed at the centre of policy development, 
highlighting the likely impact of the policy on the target groups and to take action to improve the 
policies where appropriate as a result or to demonstrate the potential benefits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 
Appendix 1 Equality Impact Proforma 
 

Department  Strategic Planning  Section  
Economy 

Person responsible 
for the assessment  

Kirsty Nicholls  

Name of the 
Policy to be 
assessed  

Littleborough Station Area 
Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD)  

Date of 
Assessment  

24/8/21 Is this a new 
or existing 
policy  

Expanding on 
Core Strategy 
policies SP2. 

1. Describe the aims, objectives 
and purpose of the policy  

The draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared to guide planning 
decisions relating to the Littleborough Station area. The purpose of this Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) is to provide a development strategy for the Littleborough Station 
area. It outlines potential development opportunities within the area, establishing the 
principles and parameters to guide future development for the next 10-15 years in the 
surrounding area. Specifically looking at: 

 Introduce new residential uses that provides for a mix of types and densities in close 
proximity to the station; 

 Define a village ‘heart’ centred around the junction of Church Street/Hare Hill Road 
and station approach 

 Improve the arrival/gateway experience at the railway station and connectivity to the 
village centre; 

 Increase the station parking provision; 

 Accommodate a bus interchange with rail services; 

 Improve the pedestrian/cyclist experience, with greater priority given to sustainable 
modes of travel across the town centre; 

 Refurbishment of the railway arches and disused buildings for commercial uses; 

 Improve the existing public realm accommodating local servicing and parking 
requirements in addition to maintaining through route; 

 Create opportunities for street tree planting; 

 Create opportunities for cycle parking; 

 Provide for public open space and links to the canal towpath (and beyond) 

 Complementary residential infill development, reinstating street frontages to Peel 
Street/Victoria Street 

 

2. Are there any associated 
objectives of the policy, please 
explain  

The SPD supports the main objectives set out within the Masterplan prepared on behalf of 
Rochdale Borough Council and includes a programme of significant consultation with the local 

P
age 45



community and local partners.  It identified a range of interventions required to improve the 
physical appearance of the area including quality and design of the public spaces, better 
access and connectivity within the area and to the Town Centre and surround areas, and a 
mixed neighbourhood offering a range of community and residential offerings to facilitate 
wider improvements and contribute positively to housing market option and improvement. 

 
 

 

3. Who is intended to benefit from 
the policy and in what way  

Private Individuals, Community and Interest Groups, Stakeholders, Land Owners, Local 
businesses, Developers, Councillors, Rochdale Council Officers.  
 

4. What outcomes are wanted 
from this policy?  

It seeks an efficient and effective land use policy to support sustainable growth which ensures 
that new development adds to and supports increased footfall, adds to the vibrancy of the town 
centre and the enhancement of the Littleborough Station area and prioritises sustainable 
modes of travel.  The area mainly comprises of commercial buildings but does also include 
some pockets of other land use and vacant land and buildings. Greater investor confidence in 
the area and provide greater certainty for the Council in securing external funding for new or 
improved infrastructure across the SPD area.  Better quality information submitted with 
planning applications to assist the development control processes and the implementation of 
the Core Strategy policy.  

5. What factors/forces could 
contribute/detract from the 
outcomes?  

If funding or resources were withdrawn. 
Unforeseen/unavoidable circumstances.  
Complexity of topic. 

6. Who are 
the main 
stakeholders 
in relation to 
the policy  

Rochdale Council, 
Private Individuals, 
Community and 
Interest Groups, 
Stakeholders, Land 
Owners, 
Businesses, 
Developers.  

7. Who implements the policy and 
who is responsible for the policy?  

Development Management.  
Strategic Planning.  
 
 

 
8. Are there concerns that the policy 
could have a differential impact on 
racial groups?  

Y  N  The SPD objectives generally responds well with all racial groups in the defined area in 
respect of access to public open spaces, new and improved housing, community facilities, 

P
age 46



accessibility etc.  All groups in this area will benefit from this and help achieve a high 
quality development. 

9. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact due to gender? 

Y  N  It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group. 
  

10. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact due disability? 

Y  N  This SPD seeks better design and integration of all developments to ensure a high quality 
environment for all users, a suitable mix of tenures, sizes and types developed in order to 
meet local needs over the long term and create a sustainable community.  In addition, it 
seeks to improve and modernise the quality of some overall residential environment.  
Therefore, it is anticipated that this SPD will have a positive benefit upon this group. 

11. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact on people due to sexual 
orientation? 

Y  N  It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group. 
 

12. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact on people due to their age? 

Y  N  This SPD seeks better design and integration of all developments to ensure a high quality 
environment for all users. It seeks to offer a wider variety of residential and commercial 
development. 
 
Therefore, it is anticipated that this SPD will have a positive benefit upon this group. 
 

13. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact on people due to their 
religious belief? 

Y  N  This SPD seeks appropriate levels of community facilities and services to support new 
development in order to serve the area as a whole.  Where community facilities include 
places of worship.   
 
Therefore, it is anticipated that this SPD will have a positive benefit upon this group. 
 

14. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact on people due to them being 
in a marriage or civil partnership? 

Y  N  It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group. 
 

15. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact on people who are pregnant 
or on maternity? 

Y  N  It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group. 
 

P
age 47



16. Are there concerns that the 
policy could have a differential 
impact on people due to their 
gender reassignment? 

Y  N  It is not anticipated that this SPD is likely to have a negative impact upon this group. 
 

 

17. Could the differential impact identified in 8-16 
amount to there being the potential for adverse 
impact in this policy  

YES  NO   

18. Can this adverse impact be justified on the 
grounds of promoting equality of opportunity for 
one group? Or any other reason  

YES  NO  Please explain for each equality 
heading (question 8-16) on a 
separate piece of paper  

19. Should the policy proceed to a partial 
impact assessment  

YES  NO  20. If Yes, is there 
enough evidence to 
proceed to a full EIA  

YES  NO  

 
Signed (completing officer) Kirsty Nicholls   Signed (Lead Officer) Mark Robinson 

 

 

P
age 48


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	7 Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document
	Append. 1 for Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document
	Append. 2 for Littleborough Station Supplementary Planning Document


